IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN CALVIN TAYLOR, II,

Appellant,

v. Case No. **SC96,959**

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER

NADA M. CAREY

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER **0648825** LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Motion to Suppress

Deputy Noble testified that Shannon Holzer's husband, Jeff, reported his wife was missing around 7:30 a.m. on December 30, 1997. VII 137. Noble was a close friend of Shannon and her

References to the twenty-volume record on appeal are designated by the volume number in Roman Numerals and the page number. All proceedings were before Clay County Circuit Judge William A. Wilkes.

parents, who were well known by many of the deputies in the St. Johns County Sheriff's Office. III 425-426. Noble learned Shannon was last seen at 1:10 the previous day, when she left the family business, Buddy Boy's Kountry Store, with a bank deposit. Several persons had seen Shannon pull up to the gas tanks with John Taylor in the passenger seat and heard her say Taylor needed a ride to Green Cove Springs. III 394-395. The bank deposit had not been made. Shannon also had not called her ex-husband to check on her daughter since that time or fed her horse. VII 138. Noble learned Taylor had not worked in two weeks due to a falling out with his father. Taylor drove a rented 1996 Geo Metro and resided at Vineyard Trailer Park on Highway 13. The information was put out on dispatch, and when Noble got to the trailer, Deputies Strickland and Lindsay were already there. III 399-402.

Strickland was off-duty when he learned from dispatch that Shannon was missing. III 428. Strickland and Robert Heaton, who was with him when he got the page, knew Shannon as a friend. They located Taylor's Geo in Vineyard Trailer Park and called for a marked unit. Strickland was told an Air One helicopter would be there in thirty seconds, as well as ground units. III 428-430, 444. Deputy Lindsay arrived, and they went to the door and knocked. Strickland wore his police badge and gun. Lindsay was in uniform with his gun at his side. The helicopter was hovering overhead and could be heard clearly. Michael McJunkin answered the door, and they asked if Taylor was home. McJunkin told them Taylor was in the shower and

invited them in. The two officers went inside, while Heaton stood at the threshold of the door. Heaton was not blocking the door, but anyone leaving the trailer would have to go past him. III 436-438, 445-446.

Taylor came into the living room in a towel. III 447. Strickland suggested he get dressed, then followed him through the kitchen and down the hallway to the bathroom to make sure he did not arm himself. Taylor put on a pair of jeans, while Strickland stood in the bathroom doorway, keeping Taylor in view the whole time. III 433, 438-441. They returned to the living room, and the officers told Taylor that Shannon was missing, he was reportedly the last person seen with her, and detectives wanted to talk to him. Taylor said Shannon gave him a ride home the day before. III 433, 440. Taylor sat down in a chair while they waited for another marked unit. Noble arrived, and in a few minutes, Deputy Lee arrived, and Strickland and Heaton left. Strickland thought Noble went inside before he left but did not see Lee go inside "because as he was pulling up, I was leaving. I shook his hand, got in my truck, and left." III 434.

Lindsay testified he went out to his patrol car to check
Taylor's driver's license for outstanding warrants, leaving
Taylor inside with Noble and Lee. III 447, 451. Lindsay did
not recall whether he or another deputy got the license from
Taylor. III 451. The trailer door was open and Lindsay could
see inside the trailer. As Lindsay sat in his car, he saw
Taylor look to the left and right, reach into his back pocket,

and stuff something under the seat cushion. III 448. Lindsay re-entered the trailer and told Taylor to stand up and walk toward the kitchen, which Taylor did. III 453. He asked Taylor what he had placed under the cushion, and Taylor said "nothing." Lindsay asked if he could look, and Taylor said yes. Lindsay lifted up the corner of the chair cushion and saw a roll of money with a hundred-dollar bill on top. At that time, he did not know what denominations were in the deposit Shannon was supposed to have made. III 455.

Noble testified that when he arrived, Strickland was at the open front door of the trailer, and Lindsay already had walked down the steps of the trailer. As Noble approached the trailer, Lindsay alerted him that Taylor had concealed something in a chair. III 403, 417-419. Noble walked inside and explained he was investigating the whereabouts of Shannon Holzer. Taylor said she had dropped him off at the trailer the day before. III 404, 420. After Lindsay came back in, Taylor was asked what he put under the cushion. Taylor said they could look, the wad of money was found, and Lindsay drew his weapon. Noble handcuffed and frisked Taylor, then walked him outside and placed him in the back of his patrol car. On the way to the car, he read Taylor his rights. Taylor did not reply, he "just kind of shrugged his shoulders." Taylor was not under arrest but was not free to leave. III 422-423, VII 139. Taylor was then unhandcuffed. The door of the patrol car was open, and his legs were out on the ground. III 407-410, VII 139, 144. Noble asked Taylor about the money, and Taylor

said, "I've had it." Noble told Taylor they had to search the trailer and his car, and Taylor signed consent forms for both.

III 423, 477. Noble could not recall whether he read the forms to Taylor. III 411. While signing the forms, Taylor said there was more money in the car under the passenger seat. III 410. Noble found a Crown Royal bag under the passenger seat with a wad of money of different denominations inside it. III 414.

Noble told Taylor that Detective Lester wanted to speak with him at the sheriff's office. Taylor gave no verbal response, he "just kind of shrugged his shoulders." III 423. Noble drove Taylor to the sheriff's office in the back of his caged vehicle, which could be opened only from the outside. He was not handcuffed because "[h]e was not under arrest, he was just being taken down to speak with Detective Lester as I explained to him." VII 144. When they arrived, Noble put the handcuffs back on because they were going into a secured facility but told Taylor he was not under arrest. He placed Taylor in an interview room and shut the door. III 416.

Deputy Lee testified that Strickland and Noble were inside the trailer when he arrived. Strickland came out and talked to Lee for a minute, then Lee went inside. Noble was asking Taylor if he knew where Shannon was. III 465. After Taylor was removed from the trailer, Lee went to meet the helicopter. III 463.

Detective Lester knew Shannon and her parents and had been out to Taylor's trailer earlier that morning. When no one

answered the door, he went in through the unlocked door. did not have a warrant. He found no one. III 478-479. Lester was in the helicopter when Taylor was located. He landed in the Shands Bridge area, where he met Deputy Lee, who told him Taylor and his "son" had been found. Lester went to the sheriff's office to meet Taylor. When Taylor arrived, Lester met with him alone in an interview room. He removed the handcuffs and read Taylor his rights. Taylor indicated he understood and signed a waiver of rights form. III 472, 477. Lester told Taylor they were investigating Shannon's disappearance, and Taylor said the last time he had seen her was when she gave him a ride to his trailer the previous day. III 473. Lester asked Taylor about the money found in the trailer and the car, and Taylor said he would rather not talk about it. After two to three hours of questioning, Lester told Taylor he needed to tell them about the money because they had a missing person with money missing. At that point, Taylor said he had gotten the money from Mr. Yelton's truck near Crescent Beach eight days earlier. Lester verified Yelton's truck was burglarized December 22, and Taylor was arrested for burglary. Taylor was not free to leave during the interview but Lester did not have probable cause to arrest until he found out about the Yelton money. III 475-481, VII 152-157.

<u>Guilt Phase</u>

² Until the trial in this case, John Taylor and Michael McJunkin believed McJunkin was Taylor's biological son. Blood tests revealed he was not.

State's Case

Shannon Holzer, 30, was last seen December 29, 1997, when she left Buddy Boy's to make a deposit at Barnett Bank in Green Cove Springs. Shannon's father, Ira Bryant, said the deposit had to be made by 2 p.m., and Shannon usually took it. The deposit that day included \$6,666 cash plus checks and was in a green Barnett Bank bag. The cash was wrapped in bank wrappers in increments of fifty. Mr. Bryant also asked Shannon to make a deposit for Carl Colee at the First Union Bank in Green Cove Springs. XII 1036-1046. Colee's deposit was made at 1:22 pm. XII 1169-1170, XII 1173-1178.

Several witnesses saw Shannon leave Buddy Boy's. Joseph Dunn was sitting in his truck by the front door when he saw a man sitting at the picnic tables near Shannon's parked car. Shannon came out, and they both got in her car. Shannon drove to the gas pumps in front of the store, then went inside. When she came out, she stopped and told some men who were standing there, "Don't tell [name of her husband], I'm only giving him a ride to Green Cove Springs." She went to her car, where the man was standing, they got in and headed north on Highway 13. XII 1048-1058, 1068-1069.

Arthur Mishoe made two back-to-back trips to Buddy Boy's that day, driving from his uncle's house on Palmo Fish Camp Road.

On the first trip with his sister, Heather Benedious, Mishoe saw a white/gray car at the intersection of Palmo Fish Camp Road and Highway 13, just across the street from Buddy Boy's.

The man sitting in the car had on glasses and a short-sleeved

shirt. XII 1074-1087. On the second trip, with his uncle, Nolan Metcalf, he heard Shannon tell his uncle not to tell Jeff she was giving a guy a ride to Green Cove to get his car. On cross-examination, Mishoe said Shannon may have said, "I'm going to Green Cove Springs and I'm taking him to get his rental car." Shannon drove north on Highway 13. Five miles north of Buddy Boy's, a left turn onto Highway 16 took you over the Shands Bridge to Green Cove Springs. If you continued north on 13, Vinyard Trailer Park was a quarter mile up the road. XII 1087-1093.

Heather Benedious also went to Buddy Boy's twice that day. On the first trip with her brother, she saw a white Geo Metro parked on the side of the road. She had seen the car at Buddy Boy's before, driven by Taylor. A boy wearing glasses was sitting in the car. She had seen the boy with Taylor at Buddy Boy's before. Thirty-five minutes later, when she went to the store again, the Geo was gone, and Shannon's car was parked at the store. XII 1097-1103.

Nolan Metcalf saw Shannon and Taylor pumping gas. Taylor was wearing jeans, a light-colored T-shirt, a jacket, and white tennis shoes. Metcalf walked into Buddy Boy's behind Shannon and heard her talking to Cindy Schmermund. He walked outside and saw Taylor standing by the passenger side of Shannon's car. When Shannon came out, she stopped and asked him not to say anything to Jeff, that she was giving Taylor a ride to Green Cove to rent a car. Taylor pulled off his jacket when he got

into the car. It was a long-sleeved, blue, button-down jacket. XII 1110-1120.

Cindy Schmermund worked at the store with Shannon that day. The deposit typically included one hundred dollar bills but she did not know if there were any that day. XII 1163-1167.

Taylor came in the store a few times a week. He was "friendly, joking, normal" and never said anything out of the way to Shannon or anyone else. XII 1129, 1152. His son looked much older than 19 and had brown hair, a mustache, and a beard. XII 1131-1132. Cindy saw Shannon walk out to her car, then pull up to the gas pumps with Taylor. Taylor pumped the gas, and Shannon came inside to pay. Shannon said she was taking Taylor to Green Cove to pick up a rental car. XII 1127, 1137, 1140.

After Shannon went back outside, Taylor got into the passenger seat. XII 1143. He was wearing a dark jersey long-sleeved, zip-up jacket with a hood and dark pants. XII 1149.

Nancy Griffis saw Shannon that day, heading north on Highway 13, getting ready to turn left to go to Green Cove Springs on State Route 16. A tall man with dark hair and features and a beard was in the passenger seat. Shannon was "very, very pale" and looking straight ahead. The man was sitting catty-cornered, leaning forward, looking at Shannon. XV 1594-1598. He wore a black T-shirt with a stretched-out neck. Griffis picked someone out of a photo lineup three weeks later but the police told her she picked the wrong guy. XV 1599-1600.

Michael McJunkin said Taylor had come to Arkansas a few weeks earlier and brought him to Florida. They sometimes stayed at

Taylor's wife Mary Ann's house on Palmo Fish Camp Road and sometimes stayed at the trailer. Taylor once said he liked Shannon and wanted to get some of that p---. XI 911-915. said he was going to rob her because he was behind on bills and knew when she would be going to the bank. XI 917. They were at Mary Ann's house the morning he decided to rob her. told McJunkin to drop him off at the side of the store and go home to wait for his call. XI 918. He dropped Taylor off at the mailbox by the side of the store, then drove up and down Palmo Fish Camp Road a few times. He parked on the side of the road a couple of times and went back to the house twice. first time he went to the house, he missed Taylor's call. drove around, then returned to the house and caught the second Taylor asked him where he was and told him to pick him up at the Citqo station in Green Cove Springs. XI 919-920. picked his father up at the Citgo, and Taylor drove to the Dollar Store. In the parking lot, Taylor lifted up his sweatshirt and T-shirt and pulled several stacks of bills from his waistband and started counting it. He put the ones in a paper bag or Crown Royal bag, which he put in the glove compartment. He put some money between the front seats and some under the front passenger seat. He said if Shannon did not show up in a couple of days, everything should be fine. also said he got her car stuck. XIII 1192, 1195-1196.

After the Dollar store, they went to Garber Ford Mercury and ERA realty in Green Cove. They went inside the realty agency and checked on houses in Green Cove. At Garber, they looked at

trucks. XIII 1196-1200. Before leaving Green Cove Springs, they took the road that goes past the Shands Bridge, went by the Citgo, did a U-turn, and came back around. On the way back to the Citgo, they turned on the road to the bridge and headed back to St. Johns County. They went to the trailer and Taylor changed clothes. He put the old clothes--pants, sweatshirt, old shoes--in a trash bag in the back seat of the Geo. XIII 1202-1205.

They went to Trader Jack's in St. Augustine to pay a bill. When they left, they pulled around to the back and threw the bag of clothes in the dumpster. XIII 1207-1208. At some point that day, they went to Mary Ann's house, and Taylor and Mary Ann talked in the bedroom. Mary Ann was upset, and his father was aggravated. He thought they went to Mary Ann's once when Mary Ann was not there. That time, Taylor put some money into the attic. XIII 1209-1210. They also went to a bank, where his father deposited some money. While Taylor was inside, McJunkin saw a knife on the floorboard. Taylor asked him to throw the knife off the Bridge of Lions, which he did. XIII 1212-1213. They returned to the trailer, then went to Terry's Place. They returned to the trailer and went to sleep. XIII 1214-1217.

The next day, they went to the mall, where he bought an earring and cassette tapes with some of the \$200 his father gave him from the robbery. His father bought some new shoes. They ate, then went back to the trailer. XIII 1218-1222. The police came and took them to the station to be questioned.

XIII 1223. McJunkin did not tell the truth that day. He was questioned again that night or early the next morning and gave a recorded statement. Between interviews, he went to Mary Ann's house. After the second interview, he went back to Arkansas on a bus. Mary Ann gave him money for the bus. XIII 1224-1227.

On cross-examination, McJunkin said he had been in jail for 19 months on charges of first-degree murder and armed robbery. XI 924. The morning Shannon disappeared, he called his mother and talked to her for 19 minutes. He found out someone had shot at his mother. He was angry and wanted to get to Arkansas to deal with the person who shot at her. He had no way to get to Arkansas and no money. As far as he knew, his father had no money to give him. McJunkin admitted he stole a briefcase the week before the murder and gave it to Taylor. Taylor told him the briefcase had \$5,000 in it but McJunkin saw Taylor looking through it and said there was no no money in it. XI 926-929.

McJunkin admitted he was hyperventilating when first questioned about Shannon and agreed he might have turned away every time her name was mentioned. He denied being in her Mustang and denied telling Mary Ann he had been in it. XI 935. In his initial statement to police, he said he went from Mary Ann's house to the trailer that morning to play video games and was supposed to pick his father up at Mary Ann's later that day. He told them he had not shown up, so his father hitched a ride with Shannon. XI 935-936. He denied saying he was growing up to be a serial killer. He admitted he had problems

with his temper when he was thirteen and was in a treatment center for violence. He was prescribed medication for his temper but was not taking the medication in December 1997. XI 954-956.

When arrested some weeks after Taylor was arrested, he had on two pairs of underwear, underwear and boxers. His boxers were taken when he was booked at the jail. XI 957-958. The boxers on the bathroom floor in Defendant's Exhibit A were his. XI 965.

In his sworn statement of December 31, he said Taylor called Mary Ann's according to the caller ID at 1:23 and 1:25, which was about the time Shannon was making a deposit at the First Union Bank. He said Taylor was wearing a white-gray, short-sleeved T-shirt and small black shoes and said nothing about a sweatshirt. XI 972-974. He said Taylor was inside the Citgo when he picked him up. XI 993. He also said Taylor put money from the robbery into Mary Ann's attic and Mary Ann may have been home at the time. XII 999-1000.

He did not have a driver's license and had little experience driving over wet terrain. He could drive an automatic but had problems with stick shifts. XII 1001, XIII 1242.

He called Taylor from Mary Ann's at the number on the caller ID, which was a pay phone. XIII 1251-1258. He initially told police he threw the knife over the Shands Bridge. XIII 1286. He thought the knife had a double edge. XIII 1299-1300.

In his sworn statement of January 11, he said they went to Mary Ann's house after Terry's Place, where he undressed and

started to go to sleep. He said Taylor put some money in a white bag into the attic, then went into the room with Mary Ann and they talked. Taylor came out, got the money from the attic, and they went back to the trailer. At trial, McJunkin denied this happened. XIII 1334-1344.

Lisa Brumbach, an employee at Garber Ford, said Taylor and his son took a test drive in a truck on December 23, 1997.

Taylor said he was getting \$4,000 from an insurance check. On December 29, he and his son came back, and he stuck his head in the office and said he was still waiting on the settlement but she would be hearing from him. He wore blue jeans and a blue T-shirt. XIII 1334-1344.

Julius Vandernack, the owner of Trader Jack's, said Taylor came in December 29 and paid \$340 for some bounced checks plus a \$40 fee. He had bounced checks before and paid them off.

Lisa Jones, the bartender at Terry's Place, said Taylor came in several times that December. He gave her a ride home once. On December 29, Taylor came in with his son. He wore jeans and a black T-shirt. He said he was getting or had gotten an insurance settlement of \$1500-\$1600. He spent \$150-\$200 and bought rounds for other customers. He seemed his normal self. He tipped her two \$100 dollar bills. XIII 1358-1367.

James Bullard had known Taylor a year and lived with him for three months. They worked for Taylor's father in marine construction. Taylor quit working in early December because of an argument over money. Taylor had said he was behind on his truck payments. They could not always pay their bills during those weeks. Taylor had said he wanted to go out with Shannon, that he was going to get some of that p---. Clothing was often on the floor of every room in the trailer. Michael sometimes threw his dirty clothes on the bathroom floor. XI 1015-1027.

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