IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN CALVIN TAYLOR II,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC96,959

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. _____/

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

relying on *State v. Bradford*, 658 So.2d 572, 574-75 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), the victim's statements of fear of the defendant may become admissible to rebut the defendant's theory that the victim willingly let him inside her car and that is how his fingerprint got in her car. The *Stoll* Court explained that only if the defendant puts forth the theory that the victim willingly let him inside her state of mind become an issue.

Taylor's defense, which was explained to the jury in opening statements, was that while the victim gave him a ride, it was a ride to his trailer not to Green Cove Springs. The State was entitled to rebut the defense that they never went to Green Cove with the victim's statement that she was giving him a ride to Green Cove Springs, not his trailer.

Additionally, as *Peede v. State*, 474 So.2d 808, 816 (Fla.1985), the State was entitled to introduce this statement to prove the kidnapping theory of felony murder. In *Peede*, the victim voluntary agreed to pick Peede up at the airport but she did not agree to go outside of Miami or to North Carolina. Peede was charged with kidnapping and it was necessary for the State to prove that the victim had been forcibly abducted against her will. This Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the victim's statements to her daughter just prior to her disappearance because they demonstrated the declarant's state of mind at that time was not to voluntarily accompany the defendant outside of Miami or to North Carolina.

Here, as in Peede, while the victim agreed to drive Taylor to Green Cove but she did not agree to drive him two miles past her destination to the woods. Taylor attempts to distinguish Peede by claiming that he does not dispute that the victim was kidnapped just not by him but that is not the point. The point is that the State's was required to prove that Shannon had been forcibly abducted against her will. It is not Taylor's defense that defines relevant evidence under Peede. It is the State's theory that defines the relevant evidence under *Peede*. The victim's statement established the scope of her consent. All the witness at Buddy Boy's testified that the victim willingly gave Taylor a ride. Without the statement, the jury would not have known the exact contours of that agreement. Thus, this statement was admissible under the same logic as Peede.

Alternatively⁷, the statement was admissible as an admission by a party opponent. The hearsay exception statute, § 90.803(18)(b), provides: Admissions.--A statement that is offered against a party and is:

A statement of which the party has manifested an adoption or belief in its truth;

Unlike the cases cited by Taylor, the defendant was present when the victim made the statement. Taylor's conduct manifested a

⁷ The Muhammad Court states that this Court has disapproved of the tactic of arguing for the first time on appeal that evidence was admissible because it was nonhearsay. Id citing Hayes v. State, 581 So.2d 121, 124 n. 8 (Fla.1991). However, the Muhammad Court then states that a trial court's ruling on an evidentiary matter will be affirmed even if the trial court ruled for the wrong reasons, citing Caso v. State, 524 So.2d 422, 424 (Fla. 1988). The first statement is wrong. The Hayes footnote does not "disapprove of the tactic" of arguing for the first time on appeal that the testimony was not hearsay; rather, it just observes that the argument was not timely made in the trial court and informs litigants to specifically state their objection in the trial court. This statement clearly applies to trial attorneys, not appellate attorneys. Moreover, this paragraph is contradictory in that it seems to imply that it is improper for an appellate attorney to argue an alternative basis but proper for the Court to do so on its own. Helvering v. Gowran, 302 U.S. 238, 245, 58 S.Ct. 154, 158, 82 L.Ed. 224 (1937)(holding that "if the decision below is correct, it must be affirmed, although the lower court relied upon a wrong ground or gave a wrong reason"). Furthermore, making alternative arguments on appeal is not a "tactic"; it is a well recognized appellate principle and practice. Dade County School Bd. v. Radio Station WQBA, 731 So.2d 638, 645 (Fla.1999) (observing that "if an appellate court, in considering whether to uphold or lower court's judgment, is not limited to overturn a consideration of the reasons given by the trial court . . ., it follows that an appellee is not limited to legal arguments expressly asserted as grounds for the judgment in the court below and explaining that it stands to reason that the appellee can present any argument supported by the record even if not expressly asserted in the lower court"). Thus, the State may properly assert this position for the first time on appeal.

belief in the statement. Neuman v. Rivers,125 F.3d 315, 320 (6th Cir. 1997)(explaining that the adoption can be manifested by any appropriate means, such as language, conduct, or silence). Taylor got in the passenger's seat of the victim's car just as Shannon was making this statement to Mr. Metcalf. He obviously thought that the victim was going to give him a ride. The victim was outside the store heading toward her car and the car was parked at the pump closest to the store with the passenger side of the victim's car being closest to the store. Taylor's conduct manifested a belief in the statement. Thus, the victim's statement also was admissible as a admission by a party opponent.

Taylor argues that the statements are unreliable because the declarant was "unavailable" and that their admission violated his Confrontation rights. First, both the state of mind exception and the party opponent exception are firmly rooted and therefore, evidence admitted pursuant to either does not violate the confrontation clause. White v. Illinois, 502 U.S. 346, 356 & n.8, 112 S.Ct. 736, 743, 116 L.Ed.2d 848 (1992)(explaining that the Confrontation Clause is not violated when the declaration falls within a firmly rooted hearsay exception); v. Kincheloe, 852 F.2d 424, Terrovona 427 (9th Cir. Confrontation Clause violation where 1988)(finding no declarant's statement was within firmly-rooted state of mind exception in a murder case where the victim telephoned the defendant to come help him and the defendant's girlfriend testified that the defendant told her this before leaving which

- 55 -

was used to show that defendant intended to meet and to help the victim which placed the defendant at the murder scene); Nelson v. State, 748 So.2d 237, 243 (Fla. 1999)(finding the testimony of two persons who heard a conversation regarding the murder to be admissible as an admission by silence and therefore, because there was an admission by the defendant, there can be no Confrontation Clause violation). Moreover, the declarant was unavailable because Taylor killed her. United States v. Rouco, 765 F.2d 983, 995 (11th Cir. 1985)(concluding that the defendant waived his right to confront the witness by killing him and quoting the Fifth Circuit: "[t]he law simply cannot countenance a defendant deriving benefits from murdering the chief witness Taylor waived any confrontation rights. against him."). Hence, the admission of the statement did not violate his right to cross-examination.

<u>Harmless Error</u>

The error if any, was harmless. *Muhammad v. State*, 782 So.2d 343 (Fla. 2001)(concluding that the error in admitting the hearsay which did not properly fall within the state of mind exception was harmless because there was no reasonable possibility that the admission of these statements contributed to the guilty verdict). Here, the statements were not as important as the conduct that these witnesses saw. The four witnesses placed Taylor in passenger seat of the victim's car with their own eyes. There was independent testimony that the victim had the bank deposit with her at that time and was going

- 56 -

to Green Cove Springs to deposit the funds in the bank. Even without the victim's statement, the jury would have known that Taylor was in the car with the victim as she started her trip into Green Cove Springs with the bank deposit. Thus, the error if any was harmless.

ISSUE III

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMIT THE CREDIT APPLICATION? (Restated)

Taylor argues that the evidence relating to his credit application for the purchase of a truck which contained lies was irrelevant and improper propensity evidence. The State respectfully disagrees. First, the application was relevant. The dealership was located in Green Cove Springs. The testimony established that Taylor was in Green Cove Springs continuing to discuss the purchase of the truck on the day of the murder. Furthermore, there was no prejudice because the prosecutors did not use the application as improper character or propensity evidence. Additionally, the error, if any, was harmless because the jury would not use Taylor's lie on the applications about his current employment status to convict him of murder. Thus, the trial court properly admitted the evidence.

The trial court's ruling

The State presented the testimony of Lisa Brumbach, an employee at Garber Ford Mercury in Green Cove Springs. VII 1331. On December 23, 1997, she showed Taylor and his son a truck and let them take a test drive. VII 1334. She testified that she pulled a credit report on Taylor. Defense counsel objected to the admission of the credit report as "an attack on character" and not relevant. VII 1335-1336. While defense counsel admitted that the dealership form was relevant, he asserted the credit application was not important to put in. The prosecutor agreed to delete the credit report but explained that he wanted to

- 58 -

explore how much money Taylor would have to pay as a down payment for the truck. Defense counsel agreed to removing the credit report but also assert that the credit application should not be admitted. VII 1337. Defense counsel claimed that only the dealership form that Taylor signed should be admitted. The trial court then inquired what was the objection to the credit application. VII 1338. Defense counsel stated "it's got a lot of statements by Mr. Taylor on it" and was not relevant. Defense counsel identified one of the statements as what his monthly salary was and asserted that the State can argue that he lied in this application because he was fired from his job and the lies on the application had nothing to do with the murder. The prosecutor then attempted to explained that the State was not interested in the lie about his employment on the application. The trial court overruled the objection. VII 1338. The witness then testified that Taylor told her he was getting a check for \$4,000 and that in her opinion someone with his credit history would need a "good chuck of change down". VII 1341-1342. She also testified that Taylor returned on December 29, 1997, (the day of the murder) and told her that while he did not have the money yet, she would be hearing from him. VII 1343. On cross-examination, the witness testified that Taylor would need approximately \$1,000.00 dollars as a down payment.

The standard of review

The admission of evidence is within the trial court's discretion and will not be reversed unless there is an abuse of

- 59 -

discretion. Thomas v. State, 748 So.2d 970, 982 (Fla. 1999); United States v. Vaandering, 50 F.3d 696, 704(9th Cir. 1995)(stating that a district court's ruling on the relevance of evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion).

<u>Merits</u>

The admissibility of relevant evidence statute, § 90.402, Florida Statutes provides:

All relevant evidence is admissible, except as provided by law.

The definition of relevant evidence statute, § 90.401, Florida Statutes, provides:

Relevant evidence is evidence tending to prove or disprove a material fact.

The relevance of this application form is that the State was establishing that Taylor, who was unemployed at the time, began a transaction to purchase a truck that he would need a large cash down payment to complete. Moreover, Garber Ford Mercury is located in Green Cove Springs. The employee testified that Taylor was at the dealership on the day of the murder to discuss the purchase of the truck. Thus, application is relevant because it tends to prove Taylor whereabouts on the day of the murder.

Taylor claims that the credit application was not necessary to establish that Taylor was going to purchase a truck; rather, this same proposition could have been established using the dealership form alone. However, necessity is not part of relevancy. *Gore v. State*, 475 So.2d 1205, 1208 (Fla.

- 60 -

1985)(explaining that the test of admissibility is relevancy and not necessity). Because of the State's high burden of proof, *i.e.*, beyond a reasonable doubt, it "needs" every piece of evidence available. The application was relevant and therefore admissible.

Additionally, to the extent that appellant is arguing that the prejudicial effect substantially outweighed the probative value of this evidence, there was no prejudice. The prosecutors did not use the evidence in this manner. While prosecutors established that Taylor was unemployed, the purpose was to highlight to the jury that unemployed man had thousands of dollars. The prosecutor did not attempt to persuade the jury that they should convict based on the lie regarding Taylor's current employment status containing in the credit application. There was no improper character or propensity use of this evidence.

Appellant's reliance on *Bozeman v. State*, 698 So.2d 629 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), is misplaced. Bozeman was convicted of battery on a police officer and resisting an officer with violence. The testimony was that Bozeman was in a "special management" unit and the jury heard testimony that to be placed in the unit, an inmate had to be "violent," and "have exhibited that propensity for violent behavior towards other inmates and staff." The *Bozeman* Court held this evidence was inadmissible prior bad acts

- 61 -

evidence used to prove that defendant acted consistently with pattern of conduct in striking officer. So, in *Bozeman* what the jury heard was the worst type of propensity evidence, *i.e.*, that the defendant had a habit of striking officers which was the exact charged crime. Here, by contrast, the jury heard nothing of the sort. Mispresentations on credit application are not prejudicial propensity evidence in a murder case.

Harmless Error

Moreover, any error in the admission of this testimony is harmless. The general rule is that the erroneous admission of collateral crime evidence is presumptively harmful. *Czubak v. State*, 570 So.2d 925, 928 (Fla.1990)(remanding for a new trial based improper admission of the fact that defendant was an escaped convicted). However, the rule that collateral crime evidence is presumptively harmful is only true depending on the seriousness of the collateral crime. This type of propensity evidence is akin to speeding tickets. If a jury improperly hears evidence of a nonviolent misdemeanor, they will not convict a defendant for a serious violent felony based on such a minor collateral crime. Even if you view the lie on the application in the worst light, as evidence of credit fraud, jury heard evidence of an credit application fraud which is a minor, white-collar, non-violent crime. The jury would not

- 62 -

convict Taylor of this brutal first degree murder in which the victim was stabbed nine times and sentenced Taylor to death based on his propensity to fill out forms incorrectly.

Moreover, all the additional evidence of Taylor's guilt renders the admission of the application harmless. The underwear that Taylor was wearing when arrested had blood on it that was an DNA match of the victim. Taylor, not Michael McJunkin, was the one with \$1672.00 in his pocket. Taylor, not Michael McJunkin, was the one who deposited \$1,700 in his bank account the same day after the robbery. Taylor, not Michael McJunkin, was the one who was paying off his debts at Trader Jack's and handing out \$200.00 tips to the waitress the night of the robbery. Thus, the error, if any, was harmless.

<u>ISSUE IV</u>

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PERMIT THE PROSECUTOR TO REHABILITATE DEPUTY NOBLE? (Restated)

Taylor asserts that the trial court improperly allowed the prosecutor to rehabilitate Deputy Noble by introducing his prior suppression hearing testimony because the testimony does not fit in the prior consistent statement hearsay exception. This prior testimony was admissible to rehabilitate regardless of the prior consistent statement hearsay exception. Deputy Noble's suppression testimony was admissible because it rebutted defense counsel's implication that Deputy Noble's trial testimony was unreliable. Moreover, the error, if any was harmless. Thus, the trial court properly permitted this rehabilitation.

The trial court's ruling

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